Night work and breast cancer: a causal relationship?





To the State Secretary for Social Affairs and Employment

Subject:Presentation of advisory report entitled<br/>'Night work and breast cancer: a causal relationship?'Your reference:A&G/W&B/04 53184Our reference:U-723/DC/798-DAppendices:1Date:June 29, 2006

Dear State Secretary,

I am pleased to present herewith the advisory report entitled 'Night work and breast cancer: a causal relationship?'. In July 2004 your Ministry requested the Health Council to examine the possible relationship between night work and breast cancer. The remit was to review the current level of knowledge and ascertain whether further research is warranted.

The advisory report in which these questions are answered was prepared by the Standing Committee on Health and Environment, which for this purpose acted as an ad hoc committee. External experts have also been consulted. The report was subsequently reviewed by the Standing Committee on Medicine.

The Committee concludes that there is an association between the prolonged performance of night work (i.e. over a period of decades) and increased incidence of breast cancer. However, the currently available data do not warrant the conclusion that breast cancer is actually caused by the night work. Nor is there any evidence as yet for a mechanism that could explain this association. The Committee therefore makes recommendations for further research.

In the Committee's opinion, the research findings do not, at present, justify recommending special measures for women who perform night work for prolonged periods in addition to the current breast-cancer screening programme. If new, scientifically sound research findings were to produce evidence of a causal relationship then one could consider what specific measures need to be taken.

P.O.Box 16052 NL-2500 BB The Hague Telephone +31 (70) 340 74 73 Telefax +31 (70) 340 75 23 E-mail: d.coenen@gr.nl Visiting Address Parnassusplein 5 NL-2511 VX The Hague The Netherlands www.healthcouncil.nl Gezondheidsraad

President



Presentation of advisory report entitled Subject: 'Night work and breast cancer: a causal relationship?' Our reference: U-723/DC/798-D Page: 2 Date: June 29, 2006

Finally, the Committee notes that there is evidence to suggest an association between night work and other risks to health. The Committee therefore recommends that the research into the effects of night work should be broadened, and not confined to breast cancer alone.

I have today also sent this advisory report to the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport, the Minister of Social Affairs and Employment and the State Secretary for Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment, so that they too can take note of its contents.

Yours sincerely,

Im. H

Prof. JA Knottnerus

P.O.Box 16052 NL-2500 BB The Hague Telephone +31 (70) 340 74 73 Telefax +31 (70) 340 75 23 E-mail: d.coenen@gr.nl

Visiting Address Parnassusplein 5 NL-2511 VX The Hague The Netherlands www.healthcouncil.nl

Night work and breast cancer: a causal relationship?

to:

the State Secretary for Social Affairs and Employment

No. 2006/15E, The Hague, June 29, 2006

The Health Council of the Netherlands, established in 1902, is an independent scientific advisory body. Its remit is "to advise the government and Parliament on the current level of knowledge with respect to public health issues..." (Section 22, Health Act).

The Health Council receives most requests for advice from the Ministers of Health, Welfare & Sport, Housing, Spatial Planning & the Environment, Social Affairs & Employment, and Agriculture, Nature & Food Quality. The Council can publish advisory reports on its own initiative. It usually does this in order to ask attention for developments or trends that are thought to be relevant to gov-ernment policy.

Most Health Council reports are prepared by multidisciplinary committees of Dutch or, sometimes, foreign experts, appointed in a personal capacity. The reports are available to the public.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of INAHTA, the international network of health technology assessment (HTA) agencies that promotes and facilitates information exchange and collaboration among HTA agencies.

This report can be downloaded from www.healthcouncil.nl.

Preferred citation:

Health Council of the Netherlands. Night work and breast cancer: a causal relationship? The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2006; publication no. 2006/15E.

all rights reserved

ISBN-10: 90-5549-613-8 ISBN-13: 978-90-5549-613-6

# Contents

	Summary 8
1	Introduction 11
1.1	Request for advice 11
1.2	Working procedures 12
1.3	Types of epidemiological research and outcome measures employed 12
1.4	Structure of the advisory report 13
2	Research findings 14
2.1	Breast cancer incidence 14
2.2	Epidemiological research into an association with night work 15
2.3	Possible mechanisms 27
3	Policy implications and further research 32
3.1	Policy implications 32
3.2	Further research 33
4	Conclusions and recommendations 36
	Literature 38

Contents

Annexes	42

A Request for advice 43

B The committee 45

Contents

# Summary

In its 2002 monitoring report, the Netherlands Centre for Occupational Diseases (NCvB) called attention to the possible relationship between night work and breast cancer in women. It was prompted to do so by the publication in 2001 of three occupational epidemiology studies revealing an association between night work and the occurrence of breast cancer. This in turn led the State Secretary of Social Affairs and Employment to request that the Health Council provide a review of current knowledge on this topic, an opinion on its policy relevance and recommendations for further research.

### Relationship between night work and breast cancer

A systematic review of epidemiological studies on night work and breast cancer was published in 2005, which also included studies of airline flight attendants. That same year also saw the publication of a British assessment of night work and breast cancer. The Committee utilises these studies (among others) in this advisory report.

The epidemiological studies identify an association between the performance of night work and an increased incidence of breast cancer in women. Whether this is a causal relationship is unclear. The two most informative studies, conducted among a large group of female nurses in the United States, point to an increased incidence of breast cancer following long-term exposure to night work. Incidence of breast cancer was approximately one and a half times higher after at

8

Summary

least 20-30 years of night work than among female nurses who did not work at nights. However, the studies display significant limitations with regard to the estimation of exposure to night work. These relate to the definition of night work (i.e. what hours), how night work was quantified (actual number of nights and/or hours within a specific time-frame) and how the night workers have been assigned to the study groups (possible presence of night workers in the control group).

Based on an evaluation of the epidemiological research data, the Committee concludes that a relationship has been found between prolonged periods of night work and higher incidence of breast cancer in women. However, the currently available data do not warrant the conclusion that this is a causal relationship.

### Possible mechanisms

No mechanism has been identified that could explain a possible causal relationship between night work and breast cancer. A chronic disruption of the circadian rhythm could well have an effect on the production of melatonin, a hormone involved in the regulation of the sleep pattern. Disturbed melatonin secretion has been associated with the occurrence of breast cancer, though this has not been proven. Moreover, other factors that display a circadian rhythm (e.g. components of the immune system or genes that control the circadian rhythm) could equally be influenced by night work. Further research is required in this area.

## Further research

The Committee believes that consideration should be given to the association that has been identified in the studies between prolonged periods of night work and increased incidence of breast cancer. This is, in part, justified by the high incidence of breast cancer among women in the Netherlands. Other significant factors to be considered are the anticipated increase in working time (i.e. the need to continue working to a later age), the growing participation of women in the workforce and the attendant increase in night-shift work. The Committee therefore recommends that further research be conducted, which should include both epidemiological studies and research into a possible causal mechanism. Wherever possible, this should draw on existing research at national and international level.

Summary

# Policy implications

Women in the Netherlands aged 50 to 75 years have access to regular population screening for breast cancer (once every two years). At present, the research findings do not, in the Committee's opinion, justify recommending special measures for women who perform night work for prolonged periods in addition to the current breast-cancer screening programme. If new, scientifically sound research findings were to produce evidence of a causal relationship then one could consider what specific measures need to be taken.

10

Summary

# <u>1</u> Introduction

# 1.1 Request for advice

Chapter

In its 2002 monitoring report, the Netherlands Centre for Occupational Diseases (NCvB) called attention to the possible relationship between night work and breast cancer in women.<sup>27</sup> Based on three occupational epidemiology studies from 2001<sup>9,16,39</sup>, in which an association is apparent between night shift work and the occurrence of breast carcinoma, the NCvB estimates that one third of the breast cancer cases in women doing shift work (including a night shift component) in the Netherlands are associated with the working of shifts.

The State Secretary of Social Affairs and Employment is now requesting that the Health Council provide a review of current knowledge on this topic, an opinion on its policy relevance and recommendations for further research. The request for advice is included in Annex A. Based on this request, this advisory report answers the following three questions:

- 1 What does research tell us about the relationship between exposure to night work and the incidence of breast cancer in women who perform night work, and what is known about the underlying mechanism?
- 2 Do the research results currently warrant the development of new policy?
- 3 What additional research is to be recommended in order to analyse a possible relationship between night work and breast cancer?

Introduction

### 1.2 Working procedures

On 10 February 2005 the President of the Health Council of the Netherlands requested a number of members of the Standing Committee on Health and Environment to prepare the advisory report. The Standing Committee is acting as an ad-hoc committee for the purposes of this report. The membership of the Committee can be found in Annex B, which also contains a list of the external experts that the Committee has consulted for this report.

How has the Committee approached this task? It has searched the databases *Pubmed* and *Toxline* for relevant publications in the period 1995-2005. The search terms used are *breast cancer* in combination with one or more of the following words: *shift, night work, melatonin, cortisol, flight attendants, circadian rhythm.* The final literature search was performed in February 2006. In formulating its opinion, the Committee was subsequently influenced in particular by the reports of Shuker and Harrison 2005<sup>41</sup> and Swerdlow 2003<sup>44</sup> and the review articles of Erren 2002<sup>10</sup>, Megdal *et al.* 2005<sup>26</sup> and Schernhammer and Schulmeister 2004.<sup>36</sup>

# 1.3 Types of epidemiological research and outcome measures employed

This advisory report discusses results from two forms of epidemiological research: the cohort study and the case-control study.

In a cohort study, the cases of disease (in this case, breast cancer) that occur in the exposed and non-exposed subcohort are identified and related to the size of this subcohort at time point 0, or to the "person-time at risk" (i.e. the time during which subjects are present in a cohort and are therefore being observed) accrued in the subcohorts.<sup>5</sup>

Case-control studies of breast cancer are based on identified cases of the disease – usually in a dynamic population, where the number of people can change as a result of birth, emigration or immigration – and seek to determine the degree of exposure in those cases. The same procedure is followed with a sample selected from the rest of the same, dynamic, population: the controls.<sup>5</sup>

The measures used to indicate the strength of an association are the relative risk (RR) and the odds ratio (OR). The relative risk (RR) is a measure of the effect of the exposure that is identified in a cohort study and is used in this advisory report to indicate the possible relationship between night work and breast cancer. The

Introduction

RR is the ratio of the incidence of breast cancer in a group exposed to night work to the breast cancer incidence in a group that is not exposed to night work.<sup>5</sup> Thus the RR is the factor by which the risk of breast cancer increases upon exposure to night work. For example, an RR of 1.36 means that the incidence in the exposed group is 1.36 times greater (or the risk is 36% higher) than in the non-exposed group.

The odds ratio (OR) is a means of comparing not the number of cases of disease but the prevalence of exposure in the patient group with exposure in the control group. It is therefore the outcome of case-control research. An OR is expressed as the ratio between the number of exposed and non-exposed patients on the one hand and the number of exposed and non-exposed controls (i.e. those who are not sick) on the other. When investigating a disease with a low incidence (as a rule of thumb, one that occurs in less than 5% of the study population), an OR usually provides a good approximation of the relative risk.<sup>5</sup> This is why the OR from case-control studies is being used in this advisory report as an alternative to the relative risk that is calculated from cohort research.

Finally there is the standardised incidence ratio (SIR), which is used to measure the effect in those studies of breast cancer incidence in which the general population serves as the control group.

# 1.4 Structure of the advisory report

In chapter 2 the Committee examines the possible association between night work and the incidence of breast cancer in women who perform night work and reviews the current level of knowledge. The possible underlying mechanism is also discussed. This answers the first of the questions posed in this report. In chapter 3 an opinion is given about the policy relevance of the findings and, at the same time, recommendations are made for additional research, thus answering the second and third questions. The concluding chapter recapitulates the conclusions and recommendations.

Introduction

Chapter

2

# **Research findings**

What does scientific research tell us about a possible link between night work and breast cancer? This question is answered from two perspectives. Sections 2.1 and 2.2 explore what is known about the incidence of breast cancer and the associated risk factors among women in general and in particular among women who perform night work. Section 2.3 discusses what is known about the underlying mechanism that may explain a possible association.

## 2.1 Breast cancer incidence

There are huge differences in the incidence of breast cancer worldwide. A number of incidence rates are given below by way of illustration (Table 1). In the period from 1993 to 1997, breast cancer incidence among women in the age group 55-64 years ranged from 28 per 100,000 per year in a province in China to 469 per 100,000 per year in a section of the Hawaiian population. In the Netherlands, breast cancer incidence was comparable with that in Denmark, at around 300 women per 100,000 per year. The incidence of breast cancer in Spain, on the other hand, was far lower.

Research findings

Table 1 Breast cancer incidence worldwide (women aged 55-64), 1993-1997.<sup>28</sup>

Cancer registry	Age-standardised incidence <sup>a</sup>				
US, Hawaii: Hawaiian	469				
Switzerland, Geneva	350				
US, California, San Francisco: white	377				
US, SEER: white	325				
The Netherlands	294 <sup>1</sup>				
Denmark	297				
Spain, Granada	131				
Japan, Miyagi Prefecture	88				
Thailand, Chiang Mai	41				
China, Oidong	28				

Age-standardised incidence per 100,000 per year (world standard population

Breast cancer is the commonest form of cancer in Dutch women aged over 40. The average incidence of breast cancer in the Netherlands across all age groups is currently 120 cases per 100,000 women per year and increases sharply with advancing age. Thus breast cancer incidence among women aged 40-45 is 130 per 100,000 per year, whereas it is around 300 per 100,000 per year in the age group 60-64.<sup>1</sup>

# 2.2 Epidemiological research into an association with night work

It is a known fact that the incidence of breast cancer increases with age. The majority of breast-cancer cases occur after women have been through the menopause. Epidemiological research shows that this is due to genetic, behavioural and environmental factors that can occur during various stages of life<sup>17</sup> (though not all cases of breast cancer are attributable to one or more of these factors).

Known breast-cancer risk factors are: breast cancer in a first-degree relative, mutations in inherited genes (BRCA1 and BCRA2), previous breast malignancies, early age at first menstruation, women without children (or with few children), late age at birth of first child, late age at menopause, use of oral contraception and hormone replacement.<sup>17,48</sup> In addition, it is thought that limited physical activity, overweight and alcohol consumption may play a role in the occurrence of breast cancer.<sup>48</sup>

However, there is also evidence from recent epidemiological research to suggest that night work is correlated with a higher incidence of breast cancer in women<sup>9,16,39</sup>, which is also the subject of this advisory report. What is the current state of knowledge on this topic? The results from epidemiological research are

Research findings

first briefly outlined and then presented in table form. The Committee then discusses the quality of the available research and gives its opinion on the usefulness of the research results in answering the questions posed in this report.

### Review of the research results

Megdal and associates<sup>26</sup> have recently (2005) published a systematic review and meta-analysis of a total of 13 epidemiological studies on night work and breast cancer, including studies among airline flight attendants. Night work is defined in all of these studies as any form of rotating shift work that includes night work. These studies are used in this advisory report.

Some studies (case-control and cohort studies) have calculated the relative risk of breast cancer occurring in women in relation to night work. These studies are summarised in Table 2a. Other epidemiological research has looked at the incidence of breast cancer among airline flight attendants. In these studies a standard incidence ratio (SIR) was calculated, with the national population serving as the comparison group. These studies are shown in Table 2b. An explanation of the different types of research and risks can be found in section 1.3.

A population of 78,562 female, mainly postmenopausal, white nurses was followed up for 10 years in the prospective cohort study by Schernhammer *et al.*<sup>39</sup> The relative risk of breast cancer in women who had been working rotating night shifts (defined as working at least 3 nights per month) for 1-14 years and 15-29 years was 1.08 for both periods (95% confidence intervals (CI) ranged from 0.99 to 1.18 and from 0.90 to 1.30, respectively) when compared with female nurses who had only worked 'day duty' (defined as working otherwise than in rotating shifts with at least 3 nights per month). Female nurses who had spent 30 or more years working night duty were calculated to have a statistically significant relative risk of breast cancer of 1.36 (95% CI 1.04 to 1.78), compared with those who had only worked day duty. The test for trend with the number of years spent working night duty was statistically significantly positive (p = 0.02).

In a second prospective cohort (NHS II) by Schernhammer *et al.*<sup>38</sup>, a different population of 115,022 female, mainly premenopausal, white nurses was followed up over a 12-year period. The experimental conditions were comparable to the earlier Schernhammer study, but this time with a different population. Nurses who had spent at least 20 years working night duty were calculated to have a statistically significant relative risk of 1.79 (95% CI 1.06-3.01) for breast cancer when compared with the group that had worked day duty. It was noted, however,

Research findings

that the group of nurses performing prolonged periods (more than 20 years) of night work was fairly small (407 women). No increase in the relative risk of breast cancer was calculated for those who had spent less than 20 years working night duty.

The case-control study conducted among Danish working women (7,035 breast cancer patients and 7,035 controls) by Hansen<sup>16</sup> also shows that a prolonged period of night work (defined as the number of years spent in occupations predominantly involving night work) is associated with an increased incidence of breast cancer. The risk of breast cancer was higher (OR 1.5; 95% CI 1.2 to 1.7) after spending six months or longer working night shifts than in the control group of day workers (defined as the number of years spent in occupations predominantly involving day work). Hansen also discovered a higher risk of breast cancer (OR 1.7; 95% CI 1.3 to 2.7<sup>\*</sup>) compared with the control group of predominantly day workers after more than six years of occupational exposure to night work.

In a case-control study conducted by Davis *et al.*<sup>9</sup>, 813 women with breast cancer and 793 controls underwent in-person interviews which included questions about night work (defined as working during a shift (eight-hour period) between 7 pm and 9 am) in the 10 years before the patients had been diagnosed. The researchers discovered a relationship between ever having worked at night (defined as at least one night shift per week) and breast cancer (OR 1.6; 95% CI 1.0 to 2.5), with a positive trend for the number of hours of night work per week (p = 0.03) or the number of years with at least 1 night shift per week (p = 0.04).

Tynes<sup>46</sup> conducted a retrospective cohort study among 2,619 Norwegian women with exposure to electromagnetic fields who had been employed as radio and telegraph operators on sea-going merchant ships (night work included). An increased incidence of breast cancer was discovered in this cohort (SIR 1.5; 95% CI 1.1 to 2.0) after an observation period of 30 years (1961-1991). A case-control study conducted within this cohort (50 breast cancer patients and 4-7 controls per patient) resulted in a statistically insignificant relative breast-cancer risk of 4.3 (OR 4.3; 95% CI 0.7 to 26) for women over 50 years of age in the group with the highest cumulative exposure. The relative risk for women under 50 in the same group was 0.9 (OR 0.9; 95% CI 0.3 to 2.9).

Kliukiene<sup>19</sup> has conducted a follow-up study within the same cohort as Tynes<sup>46</sup>, but with a 10 year longer observation period (1961-2001). In this nested case-control study (99 patients and 388 controls) the relative risk for women

The original publication gives an upper-limit confidence interval of 1.7. However, correspondence with the author indicates that this should be 2.7.

Research findings

aged 50 and over in the group with the highest cumulative exposure came out lower than in the previous study by Tynes (1996) at 2.37 (95% CI 0.88 to 6.36). In women from the highest cumulative exposure group who were under 50, the relative risk was 1.78 (OR 1.78; 95% CI 0.59 to 5.41) – somewhat higher than in the earlier Tynes study (1996).

In a Norwegian case-control study of 537 female nurses with breast cancer, nested within a cohort of 45,000 Norwegian female nurses, a relative breast-cancer risk of 2.2 (OR 2.21; 95% CI 1.10-4.45) was identified after 30 years of night work (defined as years of employment as a hospital nurse).<sup>23,26</sup>

A number of incidence studies have been conducted among a specific group of night workers, namely female airline flight attendants.<sup>26</sup> The original aim of these studies was to investigate the relationship between increased exposure to cosmic radiation and cancer. However, Megdal's meta-analysis also evaluated these studies with regard to the information that they provided about exposure to any form of night work. The underlying assumption was that the circadian rhythm might be disrupted in flight attendants as a result of exposure to time-zone changes and to night work.<sup>26</sup>

Pukkala (1995)<sup>29</sup> has conducted a retrospective cohort study among 1,577 women who had worked as flight attendants for a Finnish airline company. An increased incidence of breast cancer was identified after an observation period of 26 years (SIR 1.87; 95% CI 1.15-2.23).

A comparable increase in the incidence of breast cancer was discovered in 2001 by Rafnsson<sup>30</sup> in a retrospective cohort study conducted among 1,532 women who had worked as flight attendants for an Icelandic airline company (SIR 1.6; 95% CI 1.0 to 2.4). A lag time of 15 years was applied.

Two other incidence studies among flight attendants of an airline company in the United States produced corresponding values.<sup>33,49</sup>

Three Scandinavian studies among flight attendants also produced increased standardised incidence ratios for breast cancer, but these increases were not statistically significant.<sup>15,24,25</sup>

The meta-analysis by Megdal and associates  $(2005^{26})$  assembled all of the studies concerning night work and breast cancer, including those conducted among airline personnel. On this basis they calculated an increase of 48% in the risk of breast cancer among women (1.48; 95% CI 1.36-1.61). The increase in breast-cancer risk for airline flight attendants was 44% (SIR 1.44; 95% CI 1.26-1.65) and for other night workers, 51% (RR 1.51; 95% CI 1.36-1.68). On the whole, the authors consider it unlikely that publication bias – i.e. the possibility

Research findings

that researchers have only published results that indicate a positive association between night work and breast cancer – has influenced the results.

Type of study/ Refer- ence	Study population	Source of expo- sure informa- tion; definition of exposure to night	Exposure category	Relative risk after adjust- ment	p trend test	Adjust- ment for <sup>b</sup>	Evaluation by the Com	
		work		(95% CI <sup>a</sup> )			Weakness	Strength
Prospec- tive cohort Schern- hammer 2001 <sup>39</sup>	78,562 mainly white post- menopausal American female nurses; age 54-60 yrs at start of 10- year observa- tion period (1988-1998) Nurses' Health Study	Two-yearly ques- tionnaire by post; number of years of rotating night shift with at least 3 nights/ month (in addition to evenings and afternoons in that month). Control group without these rotating night shifts	1) never 2) 1-14 yrs 3) 15-29 yrs 4) ≥30 yrs	<ol> <li>RR<sup>a</sup> 1.0</li> <li>RR 1.08</li> <li>(0.99-1.18)</li> <li>RR 1.08</li> <li>(0.90-1.30)</li> <li>RR 1.36</li> <li>(1.04-1.78)</li> <li>only statistic cally significant for postmenopausal women</li> </ol>	i-	L, P, Le, H, Lm, Lmp, F, W, BMI, O, Alc, Lg, GB	Probably permanent night workers in con- trol group. No information about light intensity and fre- quency of night work. No validation of self- reported duration of night work. No information about specific lifestyle fac- tors and socio-eco- nomic status.	Large pro- spective cohort with homoge- neous popul tion, long observation period. Adjusted fo known brea cancer risk factors.
Prospec- tive cohort Schern- hammer, 2006 <sup>38</sup>	115,022 mainly white premeno- pausal Ameri- can female nurses. Age approx. 36 yrs at start of 12- year observa- tion period (1989-2001) Nurses' Health Study II	Two-yearly ques- tionnaire by post; number of years of rotating night shift with at least 3 nights/month (in addition to evenings and afternoons in that month). Control group without these rotating night shifts	2) 1-9 yrs 3) 10-19	1) RR <sup>a</sup> 1.0 2) RR 0.98 (0.87-1.10) 3) RR 0.91 (0.72-1.16) 4) RR 1.79 (1.06-3.01)		L, P, Le, H, Lm, Lmp, F, W, BMI, O, Alc, Lg, GB, R, Fa.	Probably permanent night workers in con- trol group. No information about light intensity and fre- quency of night work. No validation of self- reported duration of night work. No information about specific lifestyle fac- tors and socio-eco- nomic status.	Large pro- spective cohort with homoge- neous popul tion, long observation period. Adjusted fo known brea cancer risk factors.

Table 2a Epidemiological research concerning night work and the risk of breast cancer

Research findings

Patient- control Hansen, 2001 <sup>16</sup>	7,035 Danish working women (aged 30-54 yrs) with breast cancer, (Dan- ish cancer reg- istry), one control per patient, ran- domly selected from female workforce (pension scheme mem- bers)	Individual employment his- tories; years of employment (min. <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> yr) in occupational groups with mainly night work (>60% of workers do night work).	5-yr induction time included $1 > \frac{1}{2}$ yr $2 > \frac{1}{2}$ yr 3 > 6 yrs (compara- ble result with 10- and 15-yr induction time)	1) OR <sup>b</sup> ~1.0 2) OR 1.5 (1.3-1.7) 3) OR 1.7 (1.3-2.7)	0.02	B, L, P, Le, Ll	No individual expo- sure data for night work. Night workers proba- bly assigned to day- worker group (less than 40% of workers do night work). Limited adjustment for known breast-can- cer risk factors.	Large popula- tion. Adjust- ment for social class (B) is also, in part, adjust- ment for Alc, Lm and Lmp.
Patient- control Davis, 2001 <sup>9</sup>	813 women from Seattle area with breast cancer and 793 con- trols (aged 20-74 yrs)	In-person inter- view concerning the 10 yrs before diagnosis. Graveyard shift work (working for an 8-hour period between 7 pm and 9 am)	1 grave-	3) OR 2.3 (1.0-5.3) 4) OR 1.1	0.04 0.03 0.04 0.04	P, O, H, F	Exposure only defined as ever having worked between 7 pm and 9 am, and interview relates to a limited period (10 years). Limited adjustment for known breast-can- cer risk factors.	Individual night-work data.
Histori- cal cohort, Tynes, 1996 <sup>46</sup>	2,619 mainly postmeno- pausal Norwe- gian female radio and tele- graph opera- tors certified between 1920 and 1980, mainly work- ing at sea; observation period 30 yrs (1961-1991)	Employment report from Nor- wegian registra- tion of seaman; night work with exposure tot artifical light and radioapparatus.	Not defined	SIR <sup>b</sup> 1.5 (1.1 - 2.0) (compari- son group is total Nor- wegian female pop- ulation).			Study primarily aimed at relationship between electromag- netic radiation and breast cancer. Expo- sure to night work not well defined.	

Research findings

Ditto with nested patient- control Tynes, 1996 <sup>46</sup>	50 women with breast cancer and 4-7 controls per patient	Three categories of cumulative exposure to night work (light at night and electro- magnetic fields) are based on number of yrs worked at sea and workload (based on type of ship: category 1, 2 or 3). Cumula- tive exposure category: (none), low, moderate, high.	age <50	OR 4.3 (0.7-26.0) OR 0.9 (0.3-2.9)	0.01	Le, P	Scarcely any adjust- ment for known breast-cancer risk fac- tors. No individual night- work data, but assign- ment to three ill- defined cumulative exposure categories. Also exposure to time-zone changes.	Potential con- founding effect limited by readily comparable groups with and without exposure to night work.
Histori- cal cohort with nested patient- control Kliuk- iene, 2003 <sup>19</sup>	Same cohort as Tynes, but longer obser- vation period 40 yrs (1961- 2001), 99 women with breast cancer, approx. 400 controls		Not defined 'high': age ≥50 'high': age <50	SIR 1.30 (1.05-1.58) (compari- son group is total Nor- wegian female pop- ulation). OR 2.37 (0.88-6.36) OR 1.78 (0.59-5.41)	5 - 0,03	Le, P	Ditto	Ditto and longer obser- vation period than Tynes 1996.
Nested patient- control Lie, 2006 <sup>23</sup>	537 Norwe- gian nurses with breast cancer (Nor- wegian cancer registry) and 4 controls per patient drawn from cohort of all (44,835) Norwegian nurses	Registered nurses: Norwe- gian health regis- try; number of years worked as hospital nurse	1) Never 2) >0-14 yrs 3) 15-29 yrs	1)OR 1.0 2)OR 0.95 (0.67-1.33) 3)OR 1.29 (0.82-2.02) 4)OR 2.21 (1.10-4.45)		Ρ	Only adjusted for par- ity. Exposure to night work not clearly defined. Reconstruction of work history based on registry of nurses and official censuses, assuming that all hos- pital nurses perform night work. Control group exposed to night work during three-year training.	Large cohort

<sup>a</sup> CI: confidence interval; SIR: standardised incidence ratio; OR: odds ratio; RR: relative risk or risk ratio.
 <sup>b</sup> Abbreviations used: Alcohol consumption (Alc), job/occupation (B), body mass index (BMI); family history of breast cancer (F); physical activity (Fa); height (Lg); benign breast cancer (GB); smoking (R) and reproductive factors: 'other' hormone therapy (H); age (L); age at birth of first child (Le); age at birth of last child (Ll); age at menarche (Lm); age at menopause (Lmp); use of oral contraception (O); number of children, parity (P); change in weight between 18 years and menopause (W).

Research findings

Type of study/ Reference	Study population <sup>a</sup>	Exposure category <sup>b</sup>	Standardised incidence ratio (SIR)	l Adjustment for <sup>d</sup>	Evaluation by the Com- mittee	
			(95% CI <sup>c</sup> )		Weakness	Strength
Retrospec- tive cohort Pukkala, 1995 <sup>29</sup>	1,577 stewardesses with Finnish airline companies; observa- tion period 26 yrs (1967-1992)	<ul> <li>Start of observation period according to number of years of service:</li> <li>1) 15 yrs</li> <li>2) 15-19 yrs</li> <li>3) ≥ 20 yrs</li> </ul>	1)SIR 1.87 (1.2-2.2) 2)SIR 3.4 (1.5-6.8) 3)SIR 2.1 (1.1-4.0)	L	Only adjusted for age. Exposure to night work poorly defined.	
Retrospec- tive cohort Rafnsson, 2001 <sup>30</sup>	1,532 stewardesses with Icelandic airline companies; observa- tion period 42 yrs (1955-1997)	<ol> <li>Average length of service 8 yrs (1-39 years).</li> <li>Observation period started 15 yrs after recruit- ment</li> <li>Recruitment after 1971 (heaviest exposure to cosmic radiation at a young age); at least 1 yr of service followed by 20- yr lag time.</li> </ol>	1) SIR 1.5 (1.0-2.1) 2) SIR 1.6 (1.0-2.4) 3) SIR 4.1 (1.7-8.5)	P, Le	Scarcely any adjustment for known breast- cancer risk fac- tors. Exposure to night work poorly defined.	
Retrospec- tive cohort Reynolds, 2002 <sup>33</sup>	44,021 female mem- bers of Association of Flight Attendants in California: 1988-1995	Total study population	SIR 1.42 (1.09-1.83)	L, L on recruit- ment, number of yrs of service; international vs internal flight routes.	Only adjusted for age. Exposure to nigh work poorly defined.	
tive cohort	287 retired female air- line flight attendants of US company	Total study population	SIR 2.00 (1.00-4.30)	L	Only adjusted for age. Also occu- pational expo- sure to pesticides in cabin. Expo- sure to night work poorly defined.	

# Table 2b Research into the incidence of breast cancer among airline flight attendants<sup>a,b</sup>

Research findings

Retrospec- tive cohort Haldorsen, 2001 <sup>15</sup>	3,105 female flight attendants with Nor- wegian airline com- pany, observation period 1953-1996	1) Total study population ≥ 15 yrs of service	1) SIR 1.1 (0.8-1.5) 2) SIR 0.9 (0.3-2.2)	L, P, Le, length of service, length of service before 26 yrs of age.	Limited adjust- ment for known breast-cancer risk factors. Expo- sure to night work poorly defined.
Retrospec- tive cohort Linnersjõ 2003 <sup>24</sup>	2,324 female female flight attendants with Scandinavian Airline System, observation period 1961-1996	Total study population	SIR 1.30 (0.85-1.74)	L, number of long distance flight hours and altitude	- Only adjusted for age. Unclear whether adjust- ment for number of long-distance flight hours and altitude relates to both night work and breast cancer. Exposure to night work poorly defined.
Retrospec- tive cohort Lynge 1996 <sup>25</sup>	915 female airline flight attendants in Denmark, observation period 1970-1996	Total study population	SIR 1.61 (0.90-2.70)	L	Only adjusted for age. Exposure to night work poorly defined.

а The national population was the comparison group in all of these studies into incidence among airline flight attendants. The data are obtained from the airline companies and national cancer registries.

b The original aim of these studies was to investigate the effect of cosmic radiation and breast cancer. Megdal has stratified the results of these studies by some form of night work. Megdal makes the assumption that flight attendants on long-distance and international flights are occupationally exposed to disruption of circadian rhythm as a result of time-zone changes and working at night.

с

CI: confidence interval; SIR: standardised incidence ratio Abbreviations used: age (L); number of children, parity (P); age at birth of first child (Le); age at birth of last child (Ll). d

Research findings

### Opinion on the usefulness of the results

What is the quality of the studies? How robust are the results of each study and of the studies as a whole in terms of the possibility of there being a causal relationship between night work and an increased incidence of breast cancer? The studies under consideration have been evaluated by Swerdlow<sup>44</sup>, Shuker and Harrison<sup>41</sup>, Schernhammer and Schulmeister<sup>36</sup>, and recently by Megdal *et al.*<sup>26</sup> The Committee makes use of these evaluations, *inter alia*.

There are two well-conducted studies of any significance, namely the two Nurses' Health Studies performed by Schernhammer in the United States.<sup>38,39</sup> These are prospective cohort studies conducted among a large population of female nurses, in which adjustments were made for known breast-cancer risk factors (potential confounders). These studies provide evidence to suggest an increased incidence of breast cancer following long-term exposure to night work (RR 1.36 (95% CI 1.04 to 1.78) after at least 30 years and RR 1.78 (95% CI 1.06-3.01) after at least 20 years). The other studies are retrospective. The limitations apparent in all of the available studies are discussed below.

Exposure to night work varies and is sometimes not clearly defined. Thus Schernhammer<sup>38,39</sup> defines night work as rotating night shifts with at least 3 nights per month, whereas Davis<sup>9</sup> defines night work as working for a period of 8 hours between 7 pm and 9 am. In the studies conducted among radio and tele-graph operators at sea, night work is an element of cumulative exposure, with other factors being electromagnetic fields and artificial light.<sup>19,46</sup> In the studies involving airline personnel, night work is quantified by means of a rough estimate of the length of service.<sup>26</sup> Moreover, it is not always clear whether night work alone is meant, or night work in combination with shifts performed at other times. Consequently it is not possible to draw a definitive conclusion with regard to an association between night work and breast cancer.

Furthermore, the amount of night work in the available studies has not been adequately quantified. Studies often only report the duration of a period in which night work was performed, and not the exact frequency (i.e. the actual number of nights and/or hours within a specific time-frame).<sup>9,16,19,38,39,46</sup> Inadequate quantification of night work can lead to an incorrect estimate of the strength of an association between night work and breast cancer.

In some studies it is possible that the exposure may have been incorrectly classified. Misclassification due to the definition of night work may have occurred in the studies by Hansen, Davis, Tynes and Kliukiene.<sup>9,16,19,46</sup> This

Research findings

might even be the case in the Schernhammer studies, since the definition of night work could possibly have resulted in permanent night workers being assigned to the control group, which ought to consist exclusively of day workers.<sup>38,39</sup> This could lead to a reduction in the difference in breast cancer incidence between nurses who have been exposed to night work and those who have not. Schernhammer, it should be noted, concludes that no substantial misclassification of exposure has occurred in her study.<sup>38</sup>

Besides occupational exposure to night work, there may also be a possibility of occupational exposure to other factors in some studies. The studies conducted by Tynes and Kliukiene among radio and telegraph operators were primarily aimed at identifying a possible association between exposure to electromagnetic radiation and the incidence of breast cancer.<sup>19,46</sup> Exposure to night work was not directly investigated.

The same applies to the incidence studies among airline flight attendants, which were primarily designed to explore increased exposure to cosmic radiation and the incidence of cancer. Moreover, these workers frequently also perform night work and are exposed to circadian rhythm disturbances (time-zone changes).<sup>26</sup> However, a recent nested case-control study (27 patients and 515 controls) by Kojo and Pukkala (2005)<sup>21</sup> among Finnish flight attendants provides no evidence that work-related factors such as cosmic radiation and disruption of the circadian rhythm contribute to the incidence of breast cancer. It does appear that breast-cancer incidence is related to known risk factors (such as familial occurrence of breast cancer). However, the number of patients in this study is relatively small.

The interpretation of the studies is further hampered by the fact that in many studies no adjustment has been made for known breast-cancer risk factors. It is conceivable that a number of risk factors, such as age at first menstruation, number of children, oral contraception, hormone replacement and alcohol consumption, might possibly be related to night work. These factors could then be potential confounders<sup>\*</sup>, and consequently their effect on the incidence of breast cancer would be erroneously attributed to night work.

In many epidemiological studies (an exception being the Nurses' Health Studies by Schernhammer<sup>38,39</sup>) it is not possible to make adequate adjustment for potential breast-cancer risk factors, since there is usually a lack of data.<sup>9,16,19,26,29,30,46</sup> Schernhammer notes that she has not sought in her studies to ascertain whether nurses who regularly perform night work differ in terms of

Confounders are factors (known or unknown) that have been associated both with night work (the exposure) and with breast cancer (the effect).

Research findings

socio-economic status or lifestyle-associated risk factors from nurses who do not undertake night work. If these factors were to influence the incidence of breast cancer, this might lead to potential confounding, for which no adjustment has been made.<sup>38,39</sup>

Adjustment has been made in some of the airline studies for such factors as altitude, long-distance flight hours and flight routes (international/internal).<sup>26</sup> It is unclear, however, whether these factors are potential confounders.

Interpretation problems are also encountered in meta-analyses. Megdal and associates have assembled all of the studies conducted among night workers, including the airline studies. Their calculations reveal a 48% increase in the risk of breast cancer in women (1.48; 95% CI 1.36-1.61).<sup>26</sup> The authors did not, however, take account of the fact that the frequency of exposure to night work was usually poorly defined in the evaluated studies. In a few studies there was an association with the duration of the period in which night work was performed.

Can publication bias – i.e. the possibility that researchers have only published results that indicate a positive association between night work and breast cancer – also prove problematic? Megdal and associates consider it unlikely that the results have been influenced by publication bias.<sup>26</sup> According to them, this would surely be reflected in an association between the size of the studies and the degree of relative risk and there is no firm evidence of this. Publication bias cannot, however, be ruled out entirely.

### Conclusion

The epidemiological studies conducted to date reveal an association between the performance of night work and an increase in breast-cancer incidence. The two most robust studies indicate an increased incidence of breast cancer after long-term exposure (i.e. over a period of decades) to night work.

However the available body of research also has significant limitations in terms of the definition and quantification of night work, possible misclassification of exposure and frequently inadequate control over potential confounders.

These deficiencies in the studies also limit the robustness of the results. Although there is manifestly an association, current knowledge does not support the conclusion that prolonged night work is the *cause* of the increase in incidence. This needs to be investigated more closely, not only through epidemiological research but also by looking for possible explanatory mechanisms.

Research findings

### 2.3 Possible mechanisms

Animal experiments have afforded insights into possible explanatory mechanisms for an association between night work and breast cancer. A recent British report reviews various potential mechanisms, citing melatonin, circadian rhythms, circadian clock genes and components of the immune system.<sup>41</sup> Possible mechanisms are also described in a recent article by Stevens<sup>43</sup> entitled 'Circadian disruption and breast cancer: from melatonin to clock genes'. Given the complexity of the mechanisms involved, the Committee has confined itself in this advisory report to undertaking a global literature search. A summary of the principal findings can be found below.

### Melatonin

One of the possible mechanisms whereby night work might increase the incidence of breast cancer in women is derived from the hypothesis advanced by Stevens.<sup>42</sup> This author suggested in 1987 that night-time exposure to light disrupts the secretion of the hormone melatonin, which could possibly give rise to an increased risk of breast cancer in women. Melatonin is a hormone that is mainly produced at night in the pineal gland in the brain and regulates the sleepwake cycle.

Experimental research from the 1980s and 1990s does, indeed, provide some evidence for a relationship between melatonin and the suppression of tumours. Melatonin has consistently been shown to have oncostatic activity in in vivo models with chemically induced mammary tumours in rats. The oncostatic action of melatonin has also been demonstrated in vitro in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. A review of these studies was published by Sanchez-Barcelo in 2003.<sup>35</sup> Furthermore, experimental animal models show that light (24 hours of light per day) inhibits melatonin secretion and increases the growth of transplantable murine liver tumours and human breast cancer xenografts (human breast tumours implanted in experimental animals), when compared with exposure to an alternating cycle of 12 hours of light and 12 hours of darkness.<sup>3,4,8</sup> In the recent xenograft study conducted by Blask (2005<sup>2</sup>), breast cancer xenografts perfused with blood from female volunteers who had been exposed to daylight (and whose blood was therefore melatonin-deficient) exhibited high proliferative activity, whereas perfusion with blood from female volunteers who had been exposed to darkness (and therefore had melatonin-rich blood) suppressed proliferative activity.

Research findings

There is, however, only indirect evidence for a possible role of melatonin in human breast cancer. According to Erren<sup>10</sup>, the melatonin hypothesis can be tested by studying populations with varying exposures to light. In his publication he therefore examines studies of female night workers, blind humans and residents of the Arctic. Despite differences in methodology, potential confounders and definitions of exposure, he ascertains that the results of these studies are in accordance with the melatonin hypothesis. Female night workers do, indeed, exhibit a higher incidence of breast cancer, while incidence is lower among blind people and Arctic residents.

This conflicts with the outcome of a recent prospective nested case-control study by Travis (2004<sup>45</sup>), however, which measured melatonin levels in 127 breast cancer patients and 254 controls. No association was identified in this study between reduced melatonin levels and an increased incidence of breast cancer. The significance of the study is limited, however, by the fact that it only measures total melatonin production over 24 hours, in the form of the main metabolite of melatonin in urine, and consequently no data have been obtained with regard to the level and timing of the nocturnal melatonin peak. Nor is there any information about night work or exposure to light at night.<sup>18</sup>

Schernhammer, on the other hand, reports lower melatonin concentrations (via the metabolite) in the morning urine of breast cancer patients compared with controls. A shortcoming of this study, however, is the fact that changes in the timing of the melatonin rhythm might influence the relationship between melatonin in the morning urine and total melatonin production .<sup>37</sup> As in the Travis study, there are no data on the timing and level of the melatonin peak.

### Circadian rhythms

Our knowledge of the circadian system and its molecular genetics has expanded in recent decades. This has shed further light on possible explanatory mechanisms for an association between night work and breast cancer.

The biological clock (also known as the circadian pacemaker), which is located in the suprachiasmatic nucleus, generates and coordinates circadian rhythms. Although light is the primary stimulus regulating circadian rhythms, the rhythm will stay approximately on a 24-hour cycle even in the total absence of daylight (as in the Arctic region), providing other factors that impact on the circadian clock are maintained (e.g. by regular sleep patterns).

Research findings

There are other factors apart from melatonin secretion that display a circadian rhythm. These might therefore also be influenced by night work. These factors include alertness, body temperature<sup>31</sup>, components of the immune system (NK [natural killer] cells and T [thymus-derived] cells) and endocrine and neuroendocrine factors (such as cortisol, prolactin and growth hormone).

Sleep is also under the control of the circadian clock. It is noted in the literature that many night workers have two hours less sleep, on average, than the general population. This reduced period of sleep is, in part, associated with alterations in glucose metabolism and immune function.<sup>41</sup>

### Immune system

Night work may possibly also disrupt components of the immune system, steroid hormones and a number of neurotransmitters in the suprachiasmatic nucleus that are influenced by light.<sup>6,22,34,50</sup> It is possible that the activity of natural killer cells is more strongly associated with physical exertion than with night-time sleep.

Cortisol levels are lower at night and higher during the day. They begin to rise just before waking, but also, for example, in athletes prior to physical exertion. Such changes in cortisol levels are not gradual, but occur in pulses of approximately 2 hours' duration. A shorter period of sleep could potentially disrupt the organisation of these cortisol pulses<sup>41</sup>. Cortisol levels are also influenced by stress.

The secretion of glucocorticoids (such as cortisol) reduces the immune response. If night workers overcome the physiological effects of their circadian clock by adapting their glucocorticoid secretion, their immune system could be suppressed. There is, however, no research to show that this actually occurs.<sup>41</sup>

#### Circadian clock genes

The Reppert study<sup>32</sup> shows that light directly influences the expression of socalled clock genes, which control the circadian rhythm. In recent animal studies, disruption of the functioning of clock genes (mutant *Period2*) in mice is associated with accelerated development of malignant tumours and impaired DNA damage response.<sup>11,14</sup> In other experiments with animals, implanted tumours have been found to grow more rapidly if the suprachiasmatic nucleus is "switched off". In this case, a disrupted light cycle results in an increase in spontaneous tumours.<sup>13</sup> Circadian clock genes are therefore possibly also involved in

Research findings

other biological processes such as cell proliferation, regulation of the cell cycle and apoptosis (a form of cell death).<sup>12,13</sup>

A recent molecular epidemiological study performed by Zhu in 2005<sup>51</sup> reveals an association between a polymorphism in the *Period3* circadian clock gene, which is associated with delayed sleep-phase syndrome<sup>\*</sup>, and breast cancer (OR 1.7; 95% CI 1.0-3.0) in premenopausal women. In this study, the frequency of a mutant of the *Period3* clock gene was found to be increased in blood samples from breast cancer patients participating in a case-control study with around 400 patients and 400 controls.

Based on this finding, a relationship between a disruption of the circadian rhythm and increased susceptibility to tumour development might be biologically plausible. Whether this effect is, in fact, responsible for the association that has been discovered between night work and breast cancer remains unclear.

Night work is also associated in the literature with other effects on health. Van Amelsvoort (2004)<sup>47</sup>, for example, describes a study among Dutch shift workers on rotating night shift who were discovered to have more risk factors for cardio-vascular diseases than day workers. Scandinavian researchers also report an increased risk of cardiovascular disease among shift workers.<sup>20</sup> Furthermore, there is evidence from the Nurses' Health Study (2003)<sup>40</sup> to suggest that rotating night shifts that include night work might, over a prolonged period, increase the incidence of colorectal cancer.

### Conclusion

The Committee notes that no mechanism has been identified that can explain a possible causal relationship between night work and breast cancer. However, current knowledge of the circadian system and its molecular genetics plainly shows that research into such a mechanism needs to include the circadian rhythm, and possibly also genes that control the circadian clock.

Furthermore, the Committee points out that there is evidence to suggest an association between night work and other risks to health.<sup>10,40,47</sup> Further research could be conducted into a possible relationship between the circadian rhythm and tumour development in general, in which case one would also need to look at

Delayed sleep-phase syndrome is a chronic sleep disorder in which the patient's biological clock is not in sync with the morning-rise evening-sleep pattern of the majority of adults and adolescents. This problem is probably attributable to a genetic defect that causes the onset of melatonin production to occur several hours later in these patients.

Research findings

other types of tumours and at effects in men. The possible relationship between exposure to night work and disruption of the circadian rhythm can then be explored.

Research findings

# Chapter

3

# Policy implications and further research

In chapter 2 the Committee reviewed the current level of knowledge concerning the relationship between night work and breast cancer and identified possible explanatory mechanisms for this association. Section 3.1 addresses the question of whether the research results currently warrant the development of new policy, while section 3.2 focuses on what additional research is to be recommended.

# 3.1 Policy implications

The Committee believes that consideration should be given to the association that has been identified in the studies between long-term exposure to night work and the increased incidence of breast cancer. This is all the more important in view of the high incidence of breast cancer among women in the Netherlands. Other significant factors to be considered are the anticipated increase in working time (i.e. the need to continue working to a later age) and the growing participation of women in the workforce and in jobs that include night work<sup>\*</sup>. The Committee therefore primarily recommends that further research should be encouraged both into epidemiological aspects and into a possible explanatory

\*

Between 2000 and 2005, an average of 335,000 women were engaged in night work in the Netherlands (105,000 women 'sometimes' and 230,000 'regularly')<sup>7</sup>. In the Netherlands, 'night work' is understood to mean work performed between 12 midnight and 6 am. The meaning of 'sometimes' or 'regularly' is not defined in the available data. Furthermore, no records are kept of the duration of night work in the Netherlands.

Policy implications and further research

mechanism. Opportunities to draw on existing research at national and international level should be considered (see also section 3.2).

Pending the emergence of new, scientifically sound research findings, should special recommendations be made for women who have performed night work for prolonged periods? Women in the Netherlands aged 50 to 75 years have access to regular population screening for breast cancer (once every two years). At present, the research findings do not, in the Committee's opinion, justify recommending special measures for women who perform night work for prolonged periods in addition to the current breast-cancer screening programme. If new, scientifically sound research findings were to produce evidence of a causal relationship then one could consider what specific measures need to be taken.

Since there is also evidence to suggest an association between night work and other risks to health, the Committee believes that the research into the effects of night work should not be confined to the occurrence of breast cancer.

### 3.2 Further research

There is consensus in the international literature that further research should focus on epidemiological studies into an association between breast cancer and night work and research into a possible explanatory mechanism. The Committee has considered the potential avenues of research and has several suggestions to make.

### Epidemiological research

Further research could be conducted along the lines of the proposals of Swerdlow<sup>44</sup> and Erren<sup>10</sup>, who envisage several large, high-quality, prospective cohort studies aimed at identifying a direct association between night work and breast cancer. These would resemble the Schernhammer Nurses' Health Studies<sup>38,39</sup>, but with detailed information about night work (including a definition, duration and frequency, and individual exposure to light) and a closer examination of potential confounders.

Because it often takes 20 years or more before sufficient breast-cancer cases have been found on which to base conclusions in prospective cohort research, and because a large study population is required, the Committee endorses the suggestion made by Swerdlow<sup>44</sup> that data on night work should, if possible, be collected as part of other ongoing cohort studies. These ongoing cohort studies

Policy implications and further research

should satisfy the condition that the necessary parameters for an association between night work and breast cancer must be in place.

Another possibility is to conduct a case-control study among specific occupational groups that perform night work, documenting information about the exposure to night work and potential confounders. This requires a long observation period (in this case, retrospective) and a large number of female subjects.

## Drawing on existing cohort studies in the Netherlands

A number of large cohort studies have been conducted at various institutes in the Netherlands, examples being the Dutch cohort study on the relationship between diet and cancer (NCLS), breast cancer studies performed by the Julius Center for Health Sciences and Dutch population screening for breast cancer. One could investigate whether these studies can provide relevant information about the association between night work and breast cancer, or whether this requires additional new research.

# Drawing on research abroad

It may be possible to draw on existing cohorts in this area at European level. A recent British report concerning shift work and breast cancer mentions various possibilities for modifying existing cohorts in England.<sup>41</sup> In this case it would be preferable to draw on research that explores other night work-related health effects in addition to breast cancer.

## Research into the underlying mechanism

The Committee also recommends that consideration should be given to research into a possible explanatory mechanism for the association between night work and breast cancer. At first, this will have to focus on animal experiments so that a systematic investigation of the circadian system can be included. In addition, research needs to be conducted in humans into the way in which exposure to night work influences circadian factors. Furthermore, one could investigate a possible relationship between the circadian rhythm and tumour development in general, in which case one would also need to look at other types of tumours and at the effects in men. The possible relationship between exposure to night work and disruption of the circadian rhythm can also be explored.

Policy implications and further research

## Conclusion

The Committee believes that consideration should be given to the association that has been identified in the studies between long-term exposure to night work and the increased incidence of breast cancer. It therefore recommends that further research be conducted, which should include both epidemiological studies and research into a possible explanatory mechanism. Wherever possible, this should draw on existing research at national and international level.

Policy implications and further research

### Chapter

4

# **Conclusions and recommendations**

Conclusion concerning an association between night work and breast cancer

The Committee concludes that there is an association between the prolonged performance of night work (i.e. over a period of decades) and breast cancer in women. However, the studies conducted to date have significant limitations in terms of the definition and quantification of night work and possible misclassification of exposure. The available data are therefore insufficient to warrant the conclusion that a causal relationship does exist.

There is no known mechanism that can explain the concurrence of prolonged night work and breast cancer. The Committee believes that it would be prudent to include the circadian rhythm and possibly also the genes that control the circadian rhythm in research into a possible explanatory mechanism.

### Conclusion concerning further research

The Committee believes that consideration should be given to the association between long-term exposure to night work and the increased incidence of breast cancer. This is all the more important in view of the high incidence of breast cancer among women in the Netherlands. Other significant factors to be considered

Conclusions and recommendations

are the anticipated increase in working time (i.e. the need to continue working to a later age) and the growing participation of women in the workforce and in jobs that include night work. The Committee therefore recommends that further research should be conducted both into epidemiological aspects and into a possible explanatory mechanism. Wherever possible, this should draw on existing research at national and international level.

## Conclusion concerning policy implications

Women in the Netherlands aged 50 to 75 years have access to regular population screening for breast cancer (once every two years). At present, the research findings do not justify recommending special measures for women who perform night work for prolonged periods in addition to the current screening programme. If new, scientifically sound research findings were to produce evidence of a causal relationship then one could consider what specific measures need to be taken.

The Committee recommends a broadening of the focus to include the impact of night work on health in general. Since epidemiological and animal studies have produced evidence for a possible association between night work and other risks to health (such as other tumours and cardiovascular diseases), it believes that research into the effects of night work ought not to be confined to breast cancer alone.

Conclusions and recommendations

Literature

<sup>1</sup> Landelijke kanker registratie, www.ikcnet.nl. 2005.

<sup>2</sup> Blask DE, Brainard GC, Dauchy RT, Hanifin JP, Davidson LK, Krause JA *et al.* Melatonin-depleted blood from premenopausal women exposed to light at night stimulates growth of human breast cancer xenografts in nude rats. Cancer Res 2005; 65(23): 11174-11184.

<sup>3</sup> Blask DE, Dauchy RT, Sauer LA, Krause JA, Brainard GC. Light during darkness, melatonin suppression and cancer progression. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 2002; 23 Suppl 2: 52-56.

<sup>4</sup> Blask DE, Dauchy RT, Sauer LA, Krause JA, Brainard GC. Growth and fatty acid metabolism of human breast cancer (MCF-7) xenografts in nude rats: impact of constant light-induced nocturnal melatonin suppression. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2003; 79(3): 313-320.

Bouter LM, Van Dongen MCJM. 2 Associatiematen. In: Bouter LM, Van Dongen M.C.J.M., editors.
 Epidemiologisch onderzoek, opzet en interpretatie. Houten: Bohn Stafleu Van Loghum; 1995: 54-65.

<sup>6</sup> Carlberg C. Gene regulation by melatonin. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2000; 917: 387-396.

Cuijpers M. Werkzame beroepsbevolking van 15-64 jaar van vrouwen naar leeftijd en nachtwerk. CBS; 2005: A05E028.

Bauchy RT, Blask DE, Sauer LA, Brainard GC, Krause JA. Dim light during darkness stimulates tumor progression by enhancing tumor fatty acid uptake and metabolism. Cancer Lett 1999; 144(2): 131-136.

<sup>9</sup> Davis S, Mirick DK, Stevens RG. Night shift work, light at night, and risk of breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(20): 1557-1562.

Erren TC. Does light cause internal cancers? The problem and challenge of an ubiquitous exposure.
 Neuro Endocrinol Lett 2002; 23 Suppl 2: 61-70.

- 11 Filipski E, Delaunay F, King VM, Wu MW, Claustrat B, Grechez-Cassiau A et al. Effects of chronic jet lag on tumor progression in mice. Cancer Res 2004; 64(21): 7879-7885.
- 12 Filipski E, King VM, Li X, Granda TG, Mormont MC, Liu X *et al.* Host circadian clock as a control point in tumor progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002; 94(9): 690-697.
- Fu L, Lee CC. The circadian clock: pacemaker and tumour suppressor. Nat Rev Cancer 2003; 3(5):
   350-361.
- 14 Fu L, Pelicano H, Liu J, Huang P, Lee C. The circadian gene Period2 plays an important role in tumor suppression and DNA damage response in vivo. Cell 2002; 111(1): 41-50.
- 15 Haldorsen T, Reitan JB, Tveten U. Cancer incidence among Norwegian airline cabin attendants. Int J Epidemiol 2001; 30(4): 825-830.
- 16 Hansen J. Increased breast cancer risk among women who work predominantly at night. Epidemiology 2001; 12(1): 74-77.
- 17 Henderson BE, Pike MC, Bernstein L, Ross RK. Breast cancer. In: Schottenfeld D FJe, editor. Cancer epidemiology and prevention. 1996: 1022-1039.
- 18 Hrushesky WJ, Blask DE. Re: Melatonin and breast cancer: a prospective study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004; 96(11): 888-889.
- 19 Kliukiene J, Tynes T, Andersen A. Follow-up of radio and telegraph operators with exposure to electromagnetic fields and risk of breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev 2003; 12(4): 301-307.
- 20 Knutsson A. Health disorders of shift workers. Occup Med (Lond) 2003; 53(2): 103-108.
- 21 Kojo K, Pukkala E, Auvinen A. Breast cancer risk among Finnish cabin attendants: a nested casecontrol study. Occup Environ Med 2005; 62(7): 488-493.
- 22 Leproult R, Colecchia EF, L'hermite-Baleriaux M, Van Cauter E. Transition from dim to bright light in the morning induces an immediate elevation of cortisol levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001; 86(1): 151-157.
- 23 Lie JA, Roessink J, Kjaerheim K. Breast Cancer and Night Work among Norwegian Nurses. Cancer Causes Control 2006; 17(1): 39-44.
- 24 Linnersjo A, Hammar N, Dammstrom BG, Johansson M, Eliasch H. Cancer incidence in airline cabin crew: experience from Sweden. Occup Environ Med 2003; 60(11): 810-814.
- 25 Lynge E. Risk of breast cancer is also increased among Danish female airline cabin attendants. BMJ 1996; 312(7025): 253.
- Megdal SP, Kroenke CH, Laden F, Pukkala E, Schernhammer ES. Night work and breast cancer risk:
   A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer 2005; 41(13): 2023-2032.
- Nederlands Centrum voor Beroepsziekten. Signaleringsrapport Beroepsziekten 2002. Amsterdam:
   NCvB, Academisch Medisch Centrum Coronel Instituut; 2002.
- 28 Parkin DM, Whelan S, Ferlay J, Storm H. Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, Volumes I to VIII. In: Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, Volumes I to VIII. 2005. Internet: www-dep.iarc.fr.
- Pukkala E, Auvinen A, Wahlberg G. Incidence of cancer among Finnish airline cabin attendants, 1967-92. BMJ 1995; 311(7006): 649-652.

- 30 Rafnsson V, Tulinius H, Jonasson JG, Hrafnkelsson J. Risk of breast cancer in female flight attendants: a population-based study (Iceland). Cancer Causes Control 2001; 12(2): 95-101.
- Refinetti R, Menaker M. The circadian rhythm of body temperature. Physiol Behav 1992; 51(3): 613-637.
- 32 Reppert SM. Cellular and molecular basis of circadian timing in mammals. Semin Perinatol 2000; 24(4): 243-246.
- 33 Reynolds P, Cone J, Layefsky M, Goldberg DE, Hurley S. Cancer incidence in California flight attendants (United States). Cancer Causes Control 2002; 13(4): 317-324.
- 34 Roberts JE. Light and immunomodulation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2000; 917: 435-445.
- 35 Sanchez-Barcelo EJ, Cos S, Fernandez R, Mediavilla MD. Melatonin and mammary cancer: a short review. Endocr Relat Cancer 2003; 10(2): 153-159.
- 36 Schernhammer E, Schulmeister K. Light at night and cancer risk. Photochem Photobiol 2004; 79(4): 316-318.
- 37 Schernhammer ES, Hankinson SE. Urinary melatonin levels and breast cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(14): 1084-1087.
- 38 Schernhammer ES, Kroenke CH, Laden F, Hankinson SE. Night Work and Risk of Breast Cancer. Epidemiology 2006; 17(1): 108-111.
- 39 Schernhammer ES, Laden F, Speizer FE, Willett WC, Hunter DJ, Kawachi I et al. Rotating night shifts and risk of breast cancer in women participating in the nurses' health study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(20): 1563-1568.
- 40 Schernhammer ES, Laden F, Speizer FE, Willett WC, Hunter DJ, Kawachi I *et al.* Night-shift work and risk of colorectal cancer in the nurses' health study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003; 95(11): 825-828.
- Shuker L, Harrison P. Shift work and breast cancer: report of an expert meeting 12 november 2004.
   Web report W23. http://www.silsoe.cranfield.ac.uk/ieh/pdf/w23.pdf geraadpleegd: 25-4-2006.
- 42 Stevens RG. Electric power use and breast cancer: a hypothesis. Am J Epidemiol 1987; 125(4): 556-561.
- 43 Stevens RG. Circadian disruption and breast cancer: from melatonin to clock genes. Epidemiology 2005; 16(2): 254-258.
- 44 Swerdlow A. Shift work and breast cancer: a critical review of the epidemiological evidence. Institute of cancer research for the Health and Safety Executive. HSE books 2003; research report 132.
- 45 Travis RC, Allen DS, Fentiman IS, Key TJ. Melatonin and breast cancer: a prospective study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004; 96(6): 475-482.
- 46 Tynes T, Hannevik M, Andersen A, Vistnes AI, Haldorsen T. Incidence of breast cancer in Norwegian female radio and telegraph operators. Cancer Causes Control 1996; 7(2): 197-204.
- 47 van Amelsvoort LG, Schouten EG, Kok FJ. Impact of one year of shift work on cardiovascular disease risk factors. J Occup Environ Med 2004; 46(7): 699-706.
- 48 Voogd AC, Rutgers EJTh, Van Leeuwen FE. Welke factoren beïnvloeden de kans op borstkanker? Nationaal kompas. http://www.rivm.nl/vtv/object\_document/o1497n17276.html geraadpleegd: 18-1-2006.

- 49 Wartenberg D, Stapleton CP. Risk of breast cancer is also increased among retired US female airline cabin attendants. BMJ 1998; 316(7148): 1902.
- 50 Yoon IY, Kripke DF, Elliott JA, Youngstedt SD. Luteinizing hormone following light exposure in healthy young men. Neurosci Lett 2003; 341(1): 25-28.
- Zhu Y, Brown HN, Zhang Y, Stevens RG, Zheng T. Period3 structural variation: a circadian biomarker associated with breast cancer in young women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005; 14(1): 268-270.

A	Request for	advice
A	Request for	advice

B The committee

# Annexes

# Annex A Request for advice

On 30 July 2004 (A&G/W&B/04 53184) the President of the Health Council received the following letter from Mr R Feringa, Director of the Occupational Safety and Health Department at the Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment.

Dear Mr Knottnerus,

The NCvB called attention to the relationship between breast cancer and night shift work in its Monitoring Report on Occupational Diseases in 2002. It was prompted to do so by the publication in 2001 of three occupational epidemiology studies revealing an association between night work and the occurrence of breast carcinoma. Studies were also published in which an increased incidence of this and other forms of cancer was identified among flight attendants.

Melatonin is cited as a possible explanation for the occurrence of breast carcinoma, while a disturbance of cortisol metabolism is regarded as another possibility. The NCvB estimates that one third of the cases of breast cancer in the Netherlands are associated with the performance of shift work.\*

I would request that you provide an opinion on the relevance of the relationship between night shift work and breast cancer and the underlying mechanism. If this is not possible on the basis of the exist-

The report is misquoted here. The correct quotation is: "The NCvB estimates that one third of the cases of breast cancer in women who perform shift work in the Netherlands are associated with the performance of shift work."

Request for advice

ing literature, kindly recommend research that can clarify this issue. I would like to receive your response by 1 March 2005 at the latest.

Yours sincerely,

Director, Occupational Safety and Health Department

Request for advice

# B The committee

Annex

The membership of the Committee that drew up the advisory report was as follows:

- Professor JA Knottnerus, *chairman* President of the Health Council, The Hague
- Dr WRF Notten, vice-chairman TNO Built Environment and Geosciences, Delft
- Professor A Bast
   Professor of Human Toxicology, University of Maastricht
- Dr CJM van den Bogaard, *adviser* Inspectorate, Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment, The Hague
- Dr JSM Boleij
   Director, Board for the Authorization of Pesticides (CTB), Wageningen
- Dr CA Bouwman, *adviser* Health Council, The Hague
- Professor B Brunekreef Professor of Environmental and Occupational Health; University of Utrecht
- Professor MHW Frings-Dresen
   Professor of Work-Related Disorders; Academic Medical Centre, Amsterdam
- Dr HS Hiemstra, *adviser* Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment, The Hague

The committee

- Dr AEM de Hollander Senior researcher, programme manager; National Institute of Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven
- Professor D Kromhout Vice-President of the Health Council, The Hague
- Dr RM Meertens Health educationalist; University of Maastricht
- Dr HME Miedema Head of Environment and Health; TNO Built Environment and Geosciences, Delft
- Professor GJ Mulder Emeritus Professor of Toxicology, Leiden
- Professor WF Passchier
   Professor of Risk Analysis; University of Maastricht
- Professor W Seinen
   Professor of Toxicology, University of Utrecht
- Drs JA Verspoor, *adviser* Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment, The Hague
- Professor M de Visser Vice-President of the Health Council, The Hague
- A Wijbenga Executive director of the Health Council, The Hague
- Dr JH van Wijnen Medical officer in environmental health, Amsterdam
- Professor FA de Wolff Professor of Clinical and Forensic Toxicology; Leiden University Medical Centre
- Dr PW van Vliet, *scientific secretary* Health Council, The Hague

The text of the advisory report was prepared by TMM Coenen, *scientific secretary* of the Health Council, The Hague, in conjunction with Professor MHW Frings-Dresen, Professor W Seinen and Dr JH van Wijnen.

The following experts were consulted:

- Dr ir LGPM van Amelsvoort, epidemiologist, University of Maastricht
- Professor J Arendt, emeritus endocrinologist, University of Surrey, UK
- Professor DGM Beersma, chronobiologist, Zoological Laboratory, University of Groningen, Haren

46

The committee

- Professor D Heederik, epidemiologist, IRAS, Utrecht
- Dr TM Pal, occupational physician, Netherlands Centre for Occupational Diseases, Amsterdam
- Dr MA Rookus, epidemiologist, Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam
- Professor T Smid, epidemiologist and occupational hygienist, VU University Medical Center and KLM Health Services, Schiphol.

Secretarial support: FM Smith / S Altintop-Levent / CJM Vianello-Roodbol Layout: M Javanmardi / J van Kan

### The Health Council and interests

Members of Health Council Committees are appointed in a personal capacity because of their special expertise in the matters to be addressed. Nonetheless, it is precisely because of this expertise that they may also have interests. This in itself does not necessarily present an obstacle for membership of a Health Council Committee. Transparency regarding possible conflicts of interest is nonetheless important, both for the President and members of a Committee and for the President of the Health Council. On being invited to join a Committee, members are asked to submit a form detailing the functions they hold and any other material and immaterial interests which could be relevant for the Committee's work. It is the responsibility of the President of the Health Council to assess whether the interests indicated constitute grounds for non-appointment. An advisorship will then sometimes make it possible to exploit the expertise of the specialist involved. During the establishment meeting the declarations issued are discussed, so that all members of the Committee are aware of each other's possible interests.

The committee